1988

J. Marius Nielson and Faye K. Nielson v.  
Prowswood Ltd. dba Prowswood Realtor & Rita  
Luke : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITY

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann Sec. 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1953). This matter was transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Utah Supreme Court by notice of the Clerk of the Utah Supreme Court dated December 22, 1988.

### NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a judgment in favor of Plaintiffs J. Marius Nielson and Faye K. Nielson ("the Nielsons") and against Defendants Prowswood, Ltd. dba Prowswood Realtor ("Prowswood") and Rita Luke ("Luke") entered after a bench trial before District Judge David S. Young.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

At issue on this appeal is an agreement to purchase real property which Luke, a real estate agent, signed, purportedly on behalf of Prowswood, her broker. The Nielsons later attempted to enforce the agreement against Prowswood. The following issues are presented:

1. Without written authority, could Luke legally bind Prowswood to purchase real property?
2. Where the Nielsons had no communications with Prowswood regarding Luke's authority, but relied exclusively

on Luke's own representations, did Luke have apparent authority to bind Prowswood?

3. Where Prowswood lacked both knowledge of the purchase agreement and an intent to ratify it, did Prowswood's acceptance of a commission under the Koch listing agreement ratify the Luke purchase agreement?

4. Was evidence of Maurius Nielson's experience as a licensed real estate broker relevant and therefore admissible?

5. Should the reasonable rental value of the property during the period of the Nielsons' occupancy offset the Nielsons' damage award?

6. If the Nielsons' Judgment against Prowswood is affirmed, is Prowswood entitled to judgment over against Luke?

#### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

Interpretation of the following statutes and rules is determinative of the first and fourth issues stated above:

Utah Code Ann. Section 25-5-1 (1953):

No estate or interest in real property . . . shall be created . . . otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating . . . the same, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized by writing.



Utah Code Ann. Section 25-5-3 (1953):

Every contract for . . . the sale, of any lands, or any interest in lands, shall be void unless the contract, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party by whom the . . . sale is to be made, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized in writing.

RULE 402, UTAH RULES OF EVIDENCE:

All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the state of Utah, statute, or by these rules, or by other rules applicable in courts of this state. . . .

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature and Disposition. This is an action brought by the Nielsons seeking specific performance of an agreement to purchase a condominium entered into by Luke, a real estate agent, purportedly on behalf of Prowswood, her broker. The matter was tried before District Judge David S. Young, who granted judgment in favor of the Nielsons against Prowswood and Luke jointly and severally.

Relevant Facts. The following facts of the case are relevant to the issues on review:

1. At all material times, Luke was a licensed real estate agent of Prowswood under a contract entitled "Agreement of Independent Contractor" ("the Independent Contractor Agreement"). Trial Transcript, Vol 1, p. 156; Exhibit 15-D(a).

2. Paragraph 9 of the Independent Contractor Agreement expressly withheld from Luke the authority "to incur any expense, enter any contract, or make any representation or commitment for and on behalf of [Prowswood] unless such authority is specifically given, in writing, with respect to each such transaction." Exhibit 15-D(a).

3. Prowswood never authorized Luke in writing or otherwise to purchase real property on its behalf. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 206.

4. The Nielsons were looking for a home to lease in Salt Lake City; Luke showed the Nielsons a condominium owned by Mr. and Mrs. Koch and listed with Prowswood ("the property"). Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, pp. 14-16.

5. On or about November 19, 1985, the Nielsons executed an Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase the property. On that same date, Luke, purportedly on behalf of Prowswood, executed an agreement with the Nielsons stating that if the Nielsons elected not to retain possession of the property prior to June 1, 1986, Prowswood would have 120 days to sell or "repurchase" the property at a price that would net the Nielsons \$160,000, the full purchase price paid by them ("Luke Agreement" or "the Agreement"). Exhibits 1-P and 2-P.

6. Prowswood granted Luke no authority, written or oral, to bind Prowswood to purchase the property. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 206.

7. Luke knew that she lacked authority to bind Prowswood to purchase the property. Trial Transcript, Vol. 2, p. 206.

8. Prowswood has never had a guaranteed sales program with respect to properties not owned by Prowswood. Trial Transcript, Vol. 2, p. 15.

9. Although Maurius Nielson was concerned as to whether Luke had authority to bind Prowswood, he made no inquiry of anyone at Prowswood, including his own son-in-law, as to whether she had such authority. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, pp. 105-06.

10. Neither Mr. nor Mrs. Nielson ever testified that they relied upon any act or omission of Prowswood, or anything other than Luke's own representations, in determining whether she was authorized to bind Prowswood to the Luke Agreement. Trial Transcript, Vols. 1 & 2.

11. Prior to the date of the Luke Agreement, Prowswood had no communication with the Nielsons regarding Luke's authority or its limits. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, pp. 52-53; 144.

12. Marius Nielsen is a licensed real estate broker in California and since 1962 has been a licensed real estate broker in Utah. Exhibit 12-D(a).

13. Maurius Nielson was previously employed by a Prowswood subsidiary, Transwest Building Supply, as a vice president in charge of day-to-day operations; in that capacity, he had no authority to purchase real property. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, pp. 142-43.

14. Expert witness Wilburn McDougal testified that, although he was familiar with guaranteed sales programs, a guaranteed buy-back at 100% of the purchase price would be unusual. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, pp. 132-33.

15. Mr. McDougal further testified that, with respect to his own company's guaranteed sales program, while some agents were at times authorized to sign a buy-back agreement, such authorizations were made on an individual basis. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 132.

16. Upon the sale of the property to the Nielsons, Prowswood and Luke received sales commissions paid by the sellers, Mr. and Mrs. Koch. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 197; Trial Transcript, Vol. 2, p. 12, 16.

17. Prowswood was unaware of the Luke Agreement at the time it accepted a commission from Mr. and Mrs. Koch on the sale of the property. Trial Transcript, Vol. 2, p. 12.

18. By letter dated May 10, 1986, the Nielsons demanded that Prowswood either resell or purchase the property within 120 days pursuant to the Luke Agreement. The 120 days expired on September 10, 1986. Exhibit 3-P.

19. By letter dated June 10, 1986, Prowswood notified the Nielsons that binding Prowswood to purchase the property "was far in excess" of Luke's authority as a sales agent. Exhibit 4-P.

20. Also in that letter, Prowswood offered to list the property for sale and to waive its commission on the sale. Exhibit 4-P.

21. The Nielsons occupied the property through trial. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, p. 16.

22. Gene C. Jorgensen further testified that the fair market rental value of the property was between \$900.00 and \$1,000.00 per month for each month during the period 1986 through the date of trial. Trial Transcript, Vol. 2, p. 33.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Prowswood's arguments may be summarized briefly as follows:

1. Written Authority. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Sections 25-5-1, -3, and -4 (1953), a contract to purchase real property is void unless the agent signing on behalf of a principal had written authority. Since Prowswood did not

authorize Luke in writing to enter into an agreement to purchase real property, Prowswood is not bound by the Luke Agreement.

2. Apparent Authority. For apparent authority to exist, the principal must cause the third party to reasonably believe that the agent is clothed with authority. The Nielsons did not infer Luke's authority from the acts or conduct of Prowswood; in fact, they received no communications from Prowswood relating to Luke's authority. They relied exclusively on Luke's own representations of her authority. Therefore, Luke lacked apparent authority and Prowswood is not bound by the Luke Agreement.

3. Ratification. a. To ratify an act, a principal must have knowledge of all material facts and an intent to ratify. Since Prowswood lacked both, it could not ratify the Luke Agreement.

b. Where, as here, the original grant of authority must be in writing, its ratification must also be in writing. Since Prowswood's purported ratification was not written, it is void. c. A principal's acceptance of a benefit constitutes an affirmance only where he has no claim to the benefit except through the act purportedly affirmed. Since Prowswood was entitled to its commission exclusively through the Koch listing agreement, accepting and retaining the commission did not ratify the Luke Agreement.

4. Admission of Evidence. The fact that Marius Nielson is a himself a licensed real estate broker is relevant to his knowledge of the authority of real estate agents and therefore increased his burden to ascertain Luke's authority. It should have been admitted.

5. Rental Offset. The parties agreed that Prowswood was entitled to an offset for the fair rental value of the property for the 22 months between the alleged breach and trial. Fair rental value is between \$900.00 and \$1,000.00 per month. It should have been awarded.

6. Judgment Against Luke. Prowswood is entitled to judgment over against Luke for damages it suffered as a result of her clear breach of the Independent Contractor Agreement.

#### ARGUMENT

##### 1.

WITHOUT WRITTEN AUTHORITY, LUKE WAS AS A MATTER OF LAW

UNABLE TO BIND PROWSWOOD TO PURCHASE THE PROPERTY

It is undisputed that Luke did not have written authority to enter into an agreement to purchase property on behalf of Prowswood. Yet without written authority, an agent cannot bind her principal to purchase real property. Utah Code Ann. Section 25-5-1 (1953) states in pertinent part:

No estate or interest in real property . . . shall be created . . . otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating . . . the same, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized by writing.

The Utah Supreme Court applied this provision in Cady v. Johnson, 671 P.2d 149, 151 (Utah 1983), where it stated:

Utah law is clear that only a written power of attorney will authorize one to bind another to a contract for the sale of real property.

[Quotation of Section 25-5-1]

In the instant case, there was no dispute as to the absence of the written power of attorney. Therefore, no authorization was ever established. There being no authorization, there could be no contract; there being no contract, there could be no right to recover . . .

Accord, Utah Code Ann. Sec. 25-5-3 (1953); Bradshaw v. McBride, 649 P.2d 74, 78-79 (Utah 1982) ("an agent executing an agreement conveying an interest in land on behalf of his principal must be authorized in writing.") See also, Utah Code Ann. Section 25-5-4 (1953).

For this Court to affirm the enforcement of an agreement to purchase real property against a principal without written authority would wreak havoc in the real estate industry in this state. It would effectively repeal the cornerstone of real estate law and open a Pandora's Box of uncertainty and litigation.



2.

LUKE LACKED APPARENT AUTHORITY TO BIND PROWSWOOD

The trial court found as a matter of fact and a matter of law that "Rita Luke had the apparent authority to bind Prowswood and execute the Agreement." Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, p. 12. The trial court entered no other findings or conclusions concerning Luke's authority to bind Prowswood. It found no actual, express, inherent, or implied authority.

As pointed out above, the authority to enter into an agreement to purchase real property can never be merely apparent, since it must be evidenced by a writing. But even if that were not the case, the trial court's conclusion of law that Luke had apparent authority misreads the law of apparent authority.

City Electric v. Dean Evans Chrysler-Plymouth, 672 P.2d 89 (Utah 1983) is the leading Utah case on the subject of apparent authority. There, an officer of Dean Evans Chrysler-Plymouth instructed a car salesman to make a purchase from City Electric and have it billed to Dean Evans. The salesman placed the order, informed City Electric that he was acting on the officer's directions, and instructed City Electric to charge Dean Evans' account. The issue treated on appeal was whether the salesman was clothed with apparent

authority. The Utah Supreme Court held that he was not. The Court stated:

It is well settled law that the apparent or ostensible authority of an agent can be inferred only from the acts and conduct of the principal. Bank of Salt Lake v. Corporation of Pres. of Ch., etc., Utah, 534 P.2d 887 (1975). . . . It follows that one who deals exclusively with an agent has the responsibility to ascertain that agent's authority despite the agent's representations. Bradshaw v. McBride, Utah 649 P.2d 74 (1982).

Id. at 90. Accord, Restatement (Second) of Agency, Sec. 27 (1957). See also, Malia v. Giles, 114 P.2d 208 (Utah 1941); Larson v. Bear, 230 P.2d 610 (Wash. 1951).

In the instant case, Mr. Nielson testified that he asked Luke if she had authority to sign the Agreement and that she assured them that she did. The Nielsons signed the Agreement solely on the strength of this representation of Luke. Neither Mr. nor Mrs. Nielson ever testified that they inferred her authority from the acts or conduct of Prowswood. In fact, Mr. Nielson testified emphatically and repeatedly that despite his concern about whether or not Luke had authority to bind Prowswood to the Agreement, he did not inquire of anyone at Prowswood, including his own son-in-law, as to Luke's authority to execute the Agreement. Trial Transcript, Vol. 1, pp. 105-07.

The fact that Prowswood provided Luke with business cards and letterhead is wholly irrelevant to this issue. First of all, there was no testimony that a real estate

agent's letterhead or business card creates any implication that the agent has authority to bind the brokerage to purchase a property. Second, there was no testimony that the Nielsons ever saw either her letterhead or her business card. Third, the Nielsons never testified that they relied on her letterhead or business card in concluding she had authority to bind Prowswood.

Furthermore, as a matter of law, promotional materials without more do not create apparent authority. The Utah Supreme Court so ruled in State v. GAF Corp., 760 P.2d 310 (Utah 1988). There, the State Department of Consumer Protection sought to enforce against GAF a warranty made by one of its retailers, relying upon promotional materials supplied by GAF to retailers as a basis for finding apparent authority. After quoting the passage from City Electric excerpted above, the Court held that:

Merely providing promotional materials to Pendleton [the retailer] is not sufficient to establish GAF's liability for Pendleton's statements on a theory of apparent authority.

760 P.2d at 314. For purposes of this analysis, Rita Luke's letterhead and business cards and this retailer's GAF promotional materials are indistinguishable. Both suggest an affiliation with a principal; neither creates apparent authority.

In sum, the record here is devoid of any evidence that the Nielsons inferred from Prowswood's acts or conduct that

Luke was authorized to bind Prowswood. For this Court to affirm a finding of apparent authority on this state of the record would throw the law of apparent authority into a state of disarray.

3.

PROWSWOOD DID NOT RATIFY THE AGREEMENT WITH THE NIELSONS  
BY ACCEPTING A REAL ESTATE COMMISSION FROM THE KOCHES

The trial court found as a matter of fact and a matter of law that Prowswood ratified the Luke Agreement. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, p. 12. This conclusion rests, apparently, on the findings that Prowswood received a sales commission (Finding No. 45) and that it "has retained its commission and has not returned the commission to Rita Luke." Finding No. 46. It is unclear what the court meant by "returning" the commission to Rita Luke, since Prowswood did not receive the commission from her. The commission was paid by the Koches, sellers of the property to the Nielsons.

For at least three reasons, Prowswood did not ratify Luke's execution of the Agreement by accepting and retaining a sales commission.

A. Prowswood Lacked Both Knowledge and Intent to Ratify

In Bradshaw v. McBride, 649 P.2d 74 (Utah 1982), the Utah Supreme Court explained that to ratify an agent's acts,

a principal must have both knowledge of the material facts and an intent to ratify:

A principal may impliedly or expressly ratify an agreement made by an unauthorized agent. Ratification of an agent's acts relates back to the time the unauthorized act occurred and is sufficient to create the relationship of principal and agent. [Citations omitted.] . . . However, a ratification requires the principal to have knowledge of all material facts and an intent to ratify.

Id. at 78 (emphasis added). Both knowledge and intent are necessary.

Prowswood was unaware of the Luke Agreement when it accepted the commission from Mr. and Mrs. Koch on the sale of the property. That is undisputed. Since Prowswood lacked "knowledge of all material facts," it could not have ratified the Luke Agreement at that time.

But did Prowswood ratify the Agreement by retaining the commission after learning the material facts? Clearly not. Prowswood learned of the of the existence of the Agreement and the Nielsons' reliance upon it through the Nielsons' letter dated May 10, 1989. By letter dated June 10, 1986, Prowswood notified the Nielsons that the authority to bind Prowswood to purchase the property "was far in excess" of Luke's authority as a sales agent. In other words, it repudiated the Agreement. Clearly, it did not manifest an intent to ratify.

Since Prowswood lacked both knowledge and intent, it did not ratify the Luke Agreement at any time.

B. Any Ratification Had to Be in Writing

Further in Bradshaw v. McBride, the Court held:

Where the law requires the authority to be given in writing, the ratification must also generally be in writing. [Citations omitted.]

649 P.2d at 79. As noted above, Utah law requires that an agent executing an agreement to purchase real property must be authorized in writing. Therefore, the principal's ratification of the agent's acts must also be in writing. The trial court found no such writing. No such writing exists.

Nor may Prowswood's retention of the commission be deemed a part performance sufficient to take the case outside the statute of frauds, since "the acts of part performance must be exclusively referable to the contract." Id. In this case, retaining the commission was not "exclusively referable" to the Luke Agreement. In fact, the Luke Agreement does not even mention a commission; the commission is provided for in the listing agreement between Prowswood and the Koches, as discussed below.

C. Prowswood Did Not Ratify the Luke Agreement By Accepting a Commission Under the Listing Agreement

The Restatement (Second) of Agency, Sec. 98, specifically addresses when receipt of a benefit may be construed as an affirmance or ratification. That section states in pertinent part:

The receipt by a purported principal . . . of something to which he would not be entitled unless an act purported to be done for him were affirmed, and to which he makes no claim except through such act, constitutes an affirmance . . .

Prowswood's commission was not "something to which [it] would not be entitled" absent affirmance, nor did Prowswood claim its commission through the Luke Agreement. Prowswood was entitled to its commission through a different agreement altogether: the Koch listing agreement. When it fulfilled the conditions of the listing agreement, Prowswood became legally entitled to receive a sales commission from Mr. and Mrs. Koch, irrespective of the enforceability of the Luke Agreement. Therefore, acceptance of the commission cannot be construed as ratification of the Luke Agreement.

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