1988

J. Marius Nielson and Faye K. Nielson v.
Prowswood Ltd. dba Prowswood Realtor & Rita
Luke : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Prowswood raises several issues on appeal. The first issue--whether Ms. Luke could bind Prowswood to purchase the Nielsons' property without written authority--was not raised by the pleadings or addressed by the trial court and therefore is not properly before this court. Prowswood waived the issue by failing to timely raise it in the trial court. (Point II.)

Even if the issue of written authority were properly raised, it does not constitute grounds for reversal because the statute of frauds is inapplicable on the facts of this case. (Point III.)

The second and third issues Prowswood raises--Ms. Luke's power to bind Prowswood to the Agreement and Prowswood's ratification of the Agreement--are factual issues. The trial court's findings of fact cannot be set aside unless they are clearly erroneous. (Point I.)

The trial court did not clearly err in finding that Ms. Luke had power to bind Prowswood to the Agreement, under a theory of either apparent authority (Point IV) or inherent agency power (Point V). Ms. Luke was Prowswood's general agent, and, in entering into the Agreement, she was only doing what was incidental to a transaction she was authorized to perform, namely, agreeing to list and sell real estate.

Neither did the trial court clearly err in finding that Prowswood ratified the Agreement after it learned all the material facts. Mr. Prows wrote the Nielsons in June 1986, evidencing his intent to stand by Prowswood's agent whatever the parties' agreement was. (Point VI.)

As for the fourth issue, the trial court did not commit reversible error in excluding evidence as to Mr. Nielson's experience as a real estate broker because such evidence was cumulative at best. (Point VII.)

Finally, the Nielsons take no position with respect to the last issue Prowswood raises, namely, whether it is entitled to a judgment over against Ms. Luke.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT CANNOT BE SET ASIDE UNLESS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

This is an appeal from a judgment entered after a trial to the court. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a) states that

findings of fact entered after a bench trial, "whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." The clearly erroneous standard applies whether the case is one in equity or at law. Barker v. Francis, 741 P.2d 548, 551 (Utah Ct. App. 1987).

The appellate court presumes the findings of fact of the trial court to be correct. Gillmore v. Gillmore, 745 P.2d 461, 462 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). On review, the appellate court "views the evidence and all the inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom in the light most supportive of the trial court's findings." Id. (quoting Horton v. Horton, 695 P.2d 102, 106 (Utah 1984)). To challenge a finding of fact, the appellant must marshal all the evidence that supports the trial court's finding and show why, even viewing it in the light most favorable to the trial court, it is insufficient to support the finding made. General Glass Corp. v. Mast Constr. Co., 766 P.2d 429, 433 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

As long as the evidence was sufficient to sustain the judgment of the trial court, the appellate court should sustain the judgment even if it might have come to a different decision had it been trying the matter. Wash-A-Matic, Inc. v. Rupp, 532 P.2d 682, 683 (Utah 1975).

II. THE DEFENDANTS HAVE WAIVED ANY DEFENSE BASED ON UTAH CODE ANN. § 25-5-1.

It is axiomatic that issues not raised by the pleadings and not addressed by the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. See, e.g., Lane v. Messer, 731 P.2d 488, 491 (Utah 1986); Bundy v. Century Equip. Co., 692 P.2d 754, 758 (Utah 1984). This is especially true of affirmative defenses based on the statute of frauds. See, e.g., L & M Corp. v. Loader, 688 P.2d 448, 449-50 (Utah 1984); City Elec. v. Dean Evans Chrysler-Plymouth, 672 P.2d 89, 90 (Utah 1983); Phillips v. JCM Dev. Corp., 666 P.2d 876, 884 (Utah 1983). See also Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c) (statute of frauds is an affirmative defense that must be pled).

Prowswood did not plead the statute of frauds, Utah Code Ann. §§ 25-5-1 and -3, as an affirmative defense in its Answer to the plaintiff's Complaint. On May 23, 1988, a pretrial conference was held in this case, and the issue of the statute of frauds was not brought up at that time, nor was it raised in any pretrial order pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 16(b). On June 3, 1988--four days before the scheduled trial date--Prowswood moved for leave to amend its Answer to assert an affirmative defense based on section 25-5-1. A hearing on the motion was scheduled for June 7, 1988, the day of trial. On June 7, 1988, the court continued the trial date to July 19, 1988, because another case was being tried on June 7.

At Prowswood's request, the hearing on its motions for leave to file an amended answer was continued four times, the last time to July 18, 1988, the day before trial. The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, like their federal counterparts, prohibit the introduction of new theories on the eve of trial. See, e.g., Gibraltar Sav. v. LDBrinkman Corp., 860 F.2d 1275, 1300 n.42 (5th Cir. 1988) petition for cert. filed, 57 U.S.L.W. 3689 (U.S. Apr. 7, 1989).¹ On July 18, 1988, the court denied Prowswood's motion for leave to amend, and the case went to trial the next day.

Prowswood has not appealed from the trial court's denial of its motions, nor has it raised any issue as to the propriety of the trial court's action in either the docketing statement or its brief on appeal. Rather, Prowswood is attempting to raise on appeal issues that the trial court has previously ruled were not timely raised. The consequence of Prowswood's failure to timely assert the statute of frauds defense is that the defense is waived. See Utah R. Civ. P. 12(h); Phillips, 666 P.2d at 884.

Because the statute of frauds issue was never considered by the trial court and is not properly before this court, the court should not consider the issue.

¹ To the extent that the Utah Rules are substantially similar to federal rules, this court can look to federal courts' interpretation of the federal rules in construing the applicable Utah Rules. Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co., 676 P.2d 952, 958 (Utah 1984).

III. SECTION 25-5-1 IS INAPPLICABLE ON THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Section 25-5-1 of the Utah Code states:

No estate or interest in real property . . . nor any trust or power over or concerning real property or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created, granted, assigned, surrendered or declared otherwise than by act or operation of law, or by deed or conveyance in writing subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by his lawful agent thereunto authorized by writing.

(Emphasis added.)

Courts have adopted an exception to the rule that an agent's authority to contract for the sale of real property be in writing when the person who acts under an oral authorization is a general agent of the principal. See, e.g., Mathis v. Madsen, 1 Utah 2d 46, 261 P.2d 952, 956 (1953). The trial court's decision and findings make it clear that Ms. Luke was a general agent of Prowswood.

"A general agent is an agent authorized to conduct a series of transactions involving a continuity of service." Restatement (Second) of Agency § 3(1) (1957). The distinction between a general agent and a special agent, that is, an agent authorized to conduct only a single transaction or series of transactions, is one of degree. Id. comment a. "Continuity of service rather than the extent of discretion or responsibility is the hallmark of the general agent." Id.

Ms. Luke had worked exclusively for Prowswood for over ten years. She was Prowswood's leading sales agent throughout this time. Prowswood provided her with an office, a secretary, business cards and Prowswood letterhead. It placed a great deal of confidence in her and gave her the latitude to act on its behalf in listing, selling and leasing real property. It allowed her to enter into negotiations on its behalf and to waive its commissions when she felt the circumstances justified such action. From this evidence, the trial court would certainly be justified in concluding that Ms. Luke was a general agent of Prowswood. Moreover, the trial court found that Ms. Luke had apparent authority from Prowswood to enter into the Agreement. Because Ms. Luke was Prowswood's general agent, that authority did not have to be in writing.

In any event, any error that the trial court may have made in failing to consider the statute of frauds was harmless error under the circumstances. The trial court not only found that Ms. Luke had apparent authority to bind Prowswood, but it also found that Prowswood subsequently ratified the Agreement. Because that ratification was in writing, see infra, part VI, the absence of a writing authorizing Ms. Luke to enter into the Agreement in the first place is simply irrelevant. See Bradshaw v. McBride, 649 P.2d 74, 79 (Utah 1982); Zeese v. Estate of Siegel, 534 P.2d 85, 89 (Utah 1975).

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT MS. LUKE
HAD AUTHORITY TO BIND PROSWOOD.

The trial court found, as a matter of fact and of law, that Ms. Luke had apparent authority to bind Prowswood to the Agreement. Record at 305 ¶¶ 55 & 1. The trial court's finding of fact was not clearly erroneous.

It is well settled that apparent authority can be inferred only from the acts and conduct of the principal. City Elec. v. Dean Evans Chrysler-Plymouth, 672 P.2d 89, 90 (Utah 1983). There is ample evidence in the record to support the trial court's conclusion that, by its acts, Prowswood clothed Ms. Luke with apparent authority to act in its behalf. Prowswood had employed Ms. Luke as an exclusive sales agent for ten years. During that time, while she obtained lifetime membership in the Million Dollar club, it received and retained the benefits of her services. It provided her with an office, secretary, telephone, business cards, and Prowswood stationery. Neither the business cards nor the stationery indicated any limitations on Ms. Luke's authority nor on her relationship with Prowswood. Prowswood gave her broad latitude to waive receipt of commissions both for herself and for Prowswood and "never had a moment's hesitation about her representations

nor the contract negotiations in which she has been involved."

Exhibit 4-P.²

From this evidence, the trial court properly concluded that Prowswood had given Ms. Luke apparent authority--if not actual authority--to do those acts that a real estate agent is authorized to do.

Under Utah law, "real estate agents are vested with very broad powers." White v. Fox, 665 P.2d 1297, 1302 (Utah 1983). Subject to certain limitations, "real estate agents are empowered to perform all acts or transactions that their real estate broker may perform." Id.³

² All of these facts distinguish this case from State By and Through Division of Consumer Protection v. GAF Corporation, 760 P.2d 310 (Utah 1988). In that case, the state alleged that GAF had committed deceptive acts or practices in violation of the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act based on, among other things, certain warranties its alleged agent gave a consumer. The state admitted that GAF did not even know its alleged agent existed until seven years after the fact. The court held that, on those facts, merely providing promotional materials that happened to fall into a third party's hands was insufficient to pin liability on GAF on a theory of apparent authority. 760 P.2d at 314.

³ White was decided under former section 61-2-3, which defined "real estate salesman" to include "any person employed or engaged by or on behalf of a licensed real estate broker to do or to deal in any act or transaction set out or comprehended by the definition of a real estate broker in section 61-2-2" Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-3 (1953). Section 61-2-3 was repealed in 1983. See 1983 Utah Laws ch. 257 § 3. However, the substance of section 61-2-3 was carried over into new section 61-2-2, which defines a "real estate sales agent" and "sales agent" as "any person employed or engaged as an independent contractor by or on behalf of a licensed principal real estate broker to perform any act set out in Subsection (7) for valuable consideration." Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-2(9) (Supp. 1988). For the text of subsection (7), see

Under Utah law, real estate brokers are authorized to perform a wide range of activities. Utah law defines a "principal real estate broker" as

any person who for another and for valuable consideration, or who with the intention or in the expectation or upon the promise of receiving or collecting valuable consideration, sells, exchanges, purchases, rents, or leases or negotiates the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of or offers or attempts or agrees to negotiate the sale, exchange, purchase, rental or leasing of, or lists or offers or attempts or agrees to list, or auctions, or offers or attempts or agrees to collect rental for the use of real estate or who advertises, who buys or offers to buy, sells or offers to sell, or otherwise deals in options on real estate or the improvements thereon . . . or who advertises or holds himself, itself, or themselves as engaged in the business of selling, exchanging, purchasing, renting, or leasing real estate, or assists or directs in the procuring of prospects or the negotiation or closing of any transaction which does or is calculated to result in the sale, exchange, leasing, or renting of any real estate

Utah Code Ann. § 61-2-2(7)(a) (Supp. 1988) (emphasis added).

It is a common marketing technique for a broker to agree to purchase property in order to obtain a listing or a sale, with its attendant commission. For example, in order to complete a sale, a broker may agree to purchase the buyer's home after a specified time. The benefits to the broker are that the buyer can qualify to purchase one home, on which the broker receives a

infra. See also Addendum.

commission, and the broker obtains a future listing, with an opportunity to obtain a second commission. Or, in order to obtain a listing, a broker may agree to buy a prospective seller's home if it does not sell within a certain time. In either case there are obvious risks if the home does not sell. The broker may lose money. However, this is an accepted marketing technique based on business judgments as to its profitability. Prowswood itself has used the technique at times. See 2 Tr. at 8-9.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that a real estate agent has authority to waive her broker's commission since the broker itself may waive its own commission. White v. Fox, 665 P.2d 1297, 1302 (Utah 1983). Under the same reasoning, if a real estate broker may enter into a guaranteed purchase agreement, which it may under section 61-2-2(7)(a), the broker's real estate agent may also enter into such an agreement.

In short, the trial court correctly concluded that Ms. Luke had apparent authority to bind Prowswood.

This conclusion is supported by sound policy, as the Utah Supreme Court explained long ago: When "one of two innocent parties must suffer from the wrongful act of a third person, . . . the loss should fall upon the one who by his conduct created the circumstances which enabled the third party to perpetrate the wrong and cause the loss" Harrison v. Auto Securities Co., 70 Utah 11, 18, 257 P. 677 (1927). The brokerage firm, as the party

who placed its agent in a position to enter into the Agreement, should bear the responsibility for the Agreement.

V. MS. LUKE HAD INHERENT AGENCY POWER TO BIND PROSWOOD TO THE AGREEMENT.

Although the trial court framed its conclusion in terms of "apparent authority," see Record at 275 and 305 ¶¶ 55 & 1, it could just as easily have stated its conclusion in terms of inherent authority, or what the Restatement calls "inherent agency power."

Whereas "apparent authority" arises from and in accordance with the principal's manifestations to third persons, Restatement (Second) of Agency § 8 (1957), "inherent agency power" is "the power of an agent which is derived not from authority, apparent authority or estoppel, but solely from the agency relation and exists for the protection of persons harmed by or dealing with the servant or other agent," id. § 8A. Courts often use the term "apparent authority" loosely in cases involving inherent agency power. Id. § 8A comment b.⁴ In fact, one of the lead Utah cases

⁴ Even if the trial court did not mean inherent agency power when it referred to Ms. Luke's "apparent authority," this court may still affirm the judgment on the grounds of inherent agency power. See Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2d 996, 999 n.4 (Utah 1987) (the appellate court can decide a case on a proper ground even though it was not argued by the parties); Goodsel v. Department of Bus. Reg., 523 P.2d 1230, 1232 (Utah 1974) (the appellate court should affirm a judgment if it is sustainable on any legal theory apparent on the record, even if it is different from the theory stated by the trial court as the basis for its ruling and even though it was not raised in the trial court).

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